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FOREWORD


Leading up to World War II, Britain realised it would not have enough pilots and aircrew to serve in the impending war. The British government requested assistance from its Empire countries to meet an anticipated shortfall of Royal Air Force aircrew, which led to an astonishing international co-operative training scheme. Australia’s response was to establish The Empire Air Training Scheme (EATS) to skill Australian pilots and aircrew as part of the British Empire’s answer to the shortage of competent airmen.


While the primary focus of EATS was to train aircrew, ground crew were also trained and were an essential part of the scheme’s success. Little has been done to recognise the hardworking ground crews and I am delighted to see the author has recognised their indispensable involvement and contribution.


Initially the intention was for all Empire aircrew recruits to complete basic training in their home countries, final training in Canada, and then serve in their distinct national squadrons on reaching Britain. However, many Australian airmen ended up completing EATS training in Australia, then further training in United Kingdom then serving with RAF squadrons. I was one of those Australian RAAF airmen and completed most of my service as a pilot with Bomber Command on RAF 102 Squadron based at Pocklington, Yorkshire.


My EATS journey started when I signed on at the recruitment centre in Woolloomooloo in Sydney. I attended Initial Training School at Bradfield Park NSW, then Elementary Flying Training School at Temora NSW. This was followed by Service Flying Training School (Intermediate and Advanced) at Uranquinty NSW then a sea voyage to The United Kingdom via the United States. Further training for European conditions and Operational Training were completed in Gloucestershire UK, followed by training with a Heavy Conversion Unit in Yorkshire. Following my time with Bomber Command, I joined Fighter Command and flew Spitfires and Hurricanes to assist in the combat training of new bomber crews. I celebrated my 21st birthday on 8th May 1945 - VE Day (Victory in Europe). On a personal note, the training I received under EATS inspired a lifelong career in the aviation industry; as a Captain with Qantas and two Masters degrees in Air Safety and a PhD in Aeronautical Engineering.


The preservation of history is highly valued by Bomber Command Association in Australia. We are committed to ensuring the Service and Sacrifice of Bomber Command is acknowledged and never forgotten. This book contributes to that history and is of great value to the Bomber Command community. It is an important document for future generations to reflect not only on the war as a whole, but also the role of EATS in Bomber Command, Fighter Command and Coastal Command.


I thank Dr Tony Brady for his dedication to the topic and his extensive and meticulous research which is significant in terms of the integrity of the book. The author’s research, combined with individual personal narrative, brings the context of EATS to life.


I also commend the Air Force for supporting the author, this project, and publishing this important work which collates the story of EATS. It has an important place in Australia’s heritage, and more specifically to the history of the RAAF, Bomber Command, and to the EATS airmen and their families.
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Dr Ronald Charles Creffield Houghton DFC, Ld’H
President, Bomber Command Association in Australia
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Chapter 1


‘YOUR PEACE IS OUR PEACE’


The time will come, when thou shalt lift thine eyes


To watch a long-drawn battle in the skies.


While aged peasants, too amazed for words,


Stare at the flying fleets of wondrous birds.


England, so long mistress of the sea,


Where winds and waves confess her sovereignty,


Her ancient triumphs yet on high shall bear


And reign the sovereign of the conquered air


~ Thomas Gray, 'Luna Habitabilis' Cambridge 17371 ~


Whether or not you believe the prose of Thomas Gray to be a Battle of Britain prophesy, he has undoubtedly envisaged the advantage offered through superiority in the air. Two centuries later, the ‘long-drawn battle in the skies’ was no longer confined to Gray’s imagination. With the onset of the World War II, it was a reality for Britain and, if the Empire wanted to survive, it had to find the means to ‘reign as sovereign of the conquered air’.


Following the fall of France, and the unprecedented allied withdrawal from Dunkirk, Britain steeled for an inevitable aerial onslaught. Churchill warned that ‘the whole fury and might of the enemy must very soon be turned on us. Hitler knows that he will have to break us in this Island or lose the war’. Churchill then famously declared, ‘the Battle of France is over. I expect that the Battle of Britain is about to begin’.2


The stoic defence of the Homeland during the Battle of Britain is the source of legends. However, in Churchill’s own words, defending Britain might avoid losing the war, but it would not win the war. Doctrine at the time suggested the means to defeat an enemy was through a sustained bombing attack on their supply, infrastructure, and cities. This undoubtedly prompted Churchill to announce in September 1940 that ‘the fighters are our salvation but the bombers alone provide the means of victory’.3 Churchill’s contention was based on the belief that the means to defeat Germany lay in sustained, targeted, heavy bombing designed to harass German infrastructure, industry, and the populace supporting the German war efforts across occupied Europe. However, Britain was in no position to prosecute or maintain this plan alone. Out of this desperate need grew an idea, and then the audacious plan, for a vast air armada manned to a great degree by the Dominions. The Daily Mail reported ‘if the air weapon is the bogey by which Hitler hopes to frighten the world into submission, the Empire has an answer’.4


The Empire Air Training Scheme


The Empire Air Training Scheme (EATS), variously known as the British Commonwealth Air Training Plan (BCATP), the Joint Air Training Plan (JATP), or simply the Plan, depending on national preference, was a joint military aircrew training scheme devised by Australia, New Zealand, Canada, and the United Kingdom. The impressive undertaking accounted for training almost half the pilots, navigators, flight engineers, wireless operators, bomb aimers, and air gunners that served with the Royal Australian Air Force (RAAF), Royal New Zealand Air Force (RNZAF), Royal Canadian Air Force (RCAF), and Royal Air Force (RAF) during World War II. The Empire Air Training Scheme remains one of the single largest aviation training programs in history, and it is acknowledged as the predominant driving force that saw the RAAF grow from around 4000 personnel in 1939, to almost 120 000 in 1944.


While there are a few existing studies into the Australian aspects of EATS, these studies rely on official documents, oral histories and a modicum of newspaper articles. Each of these studies provides its perspective of EATS and each contributes to the overall knowledge of the scheme. However, one aspect of the history has until recently been practically impossible. This is because analysing EATS using newspaper reports of the day, though possible by extensively researching archived microfilm, was too expansive a task. However, recent innovations have permitted mass digitising of archival print media, and thus enabled the libraries of metropolitan, regional, and local newspapers to be extensively searched in ways not possible just a few years ago. This provides the opportunity to examine the existing narratives from a new perspective and add to the current knowledge of this remarkable training program.


Archival Newspapers as a Primary Source


Newspapers are a valuable primary source, particularly when looking at those periods before the amalgamation of many smaller publications into single mastheads or under today’s large corporations. Many local and regional newspapers were operated by small business owners who, in many cases, were also the editors. The owners often served on local councils, on school boards, or Chambers of Commerce. They shopped locally, their children attended community schools, their families worshipped at the local churches, and their newspapers’ survival relied on the patronage of their community. Consequently, these newspapers provide unparalleled historic perspectives of each community’s beliefs and opinions.


With the onset of World War II, newspapers became more important, often reporting news not available through other media sources.5 In one example, when Darwin was bombed on 19 February 1942, radio broadcasts, which were subjected to heavy censorship, were slow to report the attacks and never mentioned the loss of life. In contrast, newspapers such as the Northern Miner from the regional Queensland town of Charters Towers carried a range of stories on the bombings in their next edition. These stories included eyewitness reports about the loss of lives and the damage inflicted, along with personal stories and editorial comments.6 The Miner, at the time, was under the editorship of Leslie Thomas Warrick, after long-term editor, Kevin Bernard Mezger, had left to join the RAAF in 1941. Warrick had grown up locally as the son of a station manager and, like many newspaper editors of the time, his duty was to keep his community well-informed. Editors and their newspapers provided most communities with their only reliable link to the wider world, combining international, national, and state-wide bulletins with local opinion.


The newspapers from this era both reflected community opinion and shaped the community’s perspective on the war. Consequently, a thorough investigation, predominantly of the Australian print media during 1939 to 1945, will add to the previous research on the Empire Air Training Scheme in a way that was not practically achievable until recently.


In researching and writing this book, more than 35 000 newspaper articles directly relating to EATS, from more than 150 metropolitan, regional and district newspapers, were collated, read and synthesised; from this mass of data, the history of the scheme emerged. What materialised was a story of one of, if not, the greatest training program the world has seen.


Previous histories of EATS have made specific claims, or drawn conclusions about the scheme, that indicate the participants were treated less than fairly on their return to Australia. Some historians suggest that this was due to the belief the airmen shirked their responsibility to return and defend Australia when Japan entered the war, while others have proffered that public support for the air war against Germany changed in light of the mass bombing and targeting of the civilian population towards the end of the war in Europe. Some even suggest, mainly through recollections, that white feathers were sent to airmen to humiliate them into returning to Australia and the war against Japan.7


Many historians have also pointed to Churchill’s ‘Germany First’ policy as fracturing the strategic allegiance between Australia and Britain and allowing the formation of the new alliance between Australia and the USA. These issues will also be addressed within this book to assess if the attitude of the Australian public changed towards the participants in the Empire Air Training Scheme and the war in Europe.


Although not all newspapers are directly cited, as many report similar stories, a broad range are referenced to provide the reader an understanding of the varied opinions, or consensus, on the various aspects of EATS. Most of the cited material within this book can be freely accessed online by any reader wishing to review, further research, or contest, any of the findings.










Chapter 2


‘IT IS MY MELANCHOLY DUTY’


With these weighty words, Australian Prime Minister, Robert Menzies, informed the nation that Britain had declared war on Germany. Menzies insisted, Australia stood with Britain, and any trouble that was Britain’s was Australia’s’.1 The Prime Minister then informed the Australian people, ‘I have said on your behalf; we are with you; your danger is our danger; your effort is our effort; your success is our success; your peace is our peace’.2 He also advised the nation that the Militia, Navy, and Air Force had been mobilised. There would be no call for volunteers according to Menzies and Geoffrey Street, the Minister for Defence, added ‘the fighting services were ready’.3 These assertions, made on the evening of 3 September 1939, surely were aimed at easing the nation into realising that they were once again engaged in a global battle.


What Menzies did not address at the time was the large-scale commitment of personnel, materials, and finances that would follow. Indeed, negotiations were already underway to recruit, train and provide Australians to serve as ground and aircrew in Britain. This was intended to facilitate the expansion of the RAF and to feed the constant need to replace personnel in the anticipated high-attrition air war against the Axis powers. Plans for expanding the RAF, through Dominion participation, had been a topic of discussion several times during the inter-war years. These talks laid the foundation for the Empire Air Training Scheme (EATS), a scheme that British Prime Minister, Winston Churchill, near war’s end described as:


The successful accomplishment of a spacious task, imaginatively conceived and most faithfully carried out. This master plan has done much to speed us on the road to victory.4


Imperial Conferences of 1926 & 1937


In 1926, at the Imperial Conference in London, Australian Prime Minister, Stanley Bruce, frustrated that little was being accomplished in a room full of undersecretaries and legal advisors, pushed the notion to have just the Prime Ministers at a round-table discussion. From this meeting, the concept of an Empire air force began to emerge.


Canadian Prime Minister, Mackenzie King, stated that his nation ‘was establishing air harbours and aerodromes, was training pilots, making new machines, and training mechanics.’ He added, they, ‘had created an Air Force reserve’ and ‘could lend very great aerial assistance in Imperial defence.’ At the time, Stanley Bruce stated that commercial aviation in Australia was so well established that ‘aeroplane, travelling in Australia was now on the same basis as the hiring of a taxicab’. He added, ‘many landing grounds were being prepared’ and ‘commercial aviation would afford a very valuable reserve of personnel and machines for the fighting forces’. Emphasizing Australia’s commitment to developing aviation, Bruce stated, ‘the Commonwealth Government profoundly believed in the future of flying, and was fostering it by every possible means, including the establishment of flying clubs, with subsidized pilots’.5


The topic of an Imperial air force surfaced again in 1934. British Viscount Elibank raised the question in the House of Lords, advocating for an urgent need to combine Commonwealth air power. Lord Londonderry disagreed, stating the Dominions were:


Sovereign bodies in the matter of defence, and the Government felt that it was incompatible with the self-government of each and the interests of all that an attempt should be made to set up a central defence force for the Empire.


While agreeing with Elibank’s reasoning, The Times nonetheless sided with Londonderry, noting that it would be highly unlikely the Dominions would participate in ‘a single service over which they would have no direct control’.6


In 1937, with another war imminent, the Imperial Conference that year stressed the need for the nations of the Empire to resolve peaceably the foreign affairs complexities that they faced.


The conference made clear without doubt that the predominant ideal and purpose of the British Commonwealth was peace, and that all efforts would continue to be directed to the end of securing world appeasement and peace.7


Despite the resolution, it was clear that the main items on the agenda were national security and preparing for war. Australian Prime Minister, Joseph Lyons, stressed that Australia would support any combined Empire defence, however, the security of the nation must be paramount. According to Lyons, Australia's vital interests were ‘the free passage of our seaborne trade, both coastal and overseas’, and ‘the maintenance of the territorial integrity of the Commonwealth against attack which may be carried out by invasion or raids’.


To secure these interests, Lyons informed the group that Australia relied on a naval defence of vital shipping, supported by land forces capable of defending the naval ports and refuelling stations, as well as other key assets from air or sea attack and, if required, capable of repelling a landing force. The Australian Navy, he said, would secure their territorial waters, but relied on a strong Empire navy stationed at Singapore, and the assurance that if invasion seemed imminent a superior fleet would be deployed by Britain to meet the threat. Lyons added, ‘the solution of the Australian defence problem is not furnished by any one service, for all have their parts to play in a balanced scheme’. He added, ‘the growing strength of the air force is becoming valuable insurance against invasion’.


For an invader must be confident of being able, on arrival, to operate air forces adequate to ensure air superiority during the landing and subsequently to protect the expedition and its reinforcements and supplies on arrival at their destination, against action by the forces of Australia. The development of the air force will render it increasingly difficult for an invader to establish such air superiority with ship-borne aircraft against land-based aircraft.8


RAAF Pre-1939


In the 12 months following the 1937 Imperial Conference, the RAAF undertook significant restructuring based on the Salmond Scheme. The scheme was a plan for Australia’s air defence, devised in 1928 by Sir John Salmond, a senior RAF officer invited by the Australian government to review and report on the restructuring of the fledgling RAAF. Unfortunately, the costly recommendations in Salmond’s report coincided with the Great Depression and the economic hardship it caused between 1929 and the mid-1930s. Consequently, seven years passed from when the report was finalised and any serious reform.


The scheme essentially stated:


Australia should be in a position to defend herself against air raids, and to ensure this protection it was necessary for the Commonwealth to possess an air force superior in numbers and equipment to any aggressor likely to attack from the sea.9


To assist with this objective, almost nine million pounds was dedicated to expanding the RAAF between 1939 and 1942. The RAAF, in 1935, had 1098 officers and men; 33 Moth trainers; 23 Wapitis; 7 Bulldogs, configured as fighters and general-purpose aircraft; 3 Seagull amphibians; 2 Southamptons, used for patrol; and 17 Hawker Demons, for a total of 85 aircraft. In 1936, personnel increases and acquisitions including an LJW Gannet, a Dragon Rapide, 8 Avro cadet trainers, 7 more Seagull amphibians and an additional 3 Hawker Demons, bolstered the RAAF to a reported ‘first-line strength of 114 war planes and a personnel of 2120’. In keeping with the Salmond Scheme, plans were in place to expand the RAAF, between 1938 and 1940, to 2472 personnel and 200 warplanes. Three squadrons were to be stationed at Canberra in the Australian Capital Territory; two squadrons near Newcastle, New South Wales (NSW); one at Brisbane, Queensland; while a combined RAAF and Citizens force was being formed at Pearce, Western Australia (WA). However, increasing the defences at Darwin in the Northern Territory were considered paramount:


Undoubtedly the most important aspect of the present expansion scheme is the decision to strengthen the defences at Darwin which is the most strategical centre in the Commonwealth defence system. An additional two Air Force squadrons are to be formed, and, in addition, dock facilities for naval vessels up to the light cruiser class are to be provided. Long-range Bristol bombing planes, which were ordered from England last year will be stationed there to cooperate with the military and naval forces.10


When Australia declared war on 3 September 1939, the RAAF had expanded to 12 squadrons with 310 officers and 3179 other ranks, although two of these squadrons had not been fully formed. In addition, several flight crews from No 10 Squadron (10SQN) were in England to take delivery of the squadron’s new Sunderland flying boats. Equipped with the Sunderlands, 10SQN joined the RAF Coastal Command as part of Australia’s contribution to the war effort, thus becoming the first RAAF squadron to see action.11 RAAF Headquarters, as part of the expansion, was relocated from Victoria Barracks in Melbourne, to Mont Loano’, a property in Wolseley Road, Piper Point, NSW. This was to allow commanding officers closer access to the units they controlled.12 RAAF Stations catering for the aircraft squadrons were located at Pearce, WA; Rathmines, near Lake Macquarie, NSW; Laverton, Victoria; and Richmond, NSW. Additionally, Laverton and Richmond housed aircraft depots with Laverton also accommodating a training depot. An armament training school was located at Cressy in rural Victoria, while Point Cook, near Laverton, continued to function as the flying training school. In preparation for hostilities, 12SQN was relocated to Darwin and 23SQN to Archerfield, Queensland.


However, the RAAF was on the verge of the most dramatic change in the service’s history. In the five years between 1939 and 1944, the RAAF would expand from 3489 personnel, to peak on 29 November 1944 at 20 091 RAAF and 657 WAAAF officers, 144 674 airmen and 17 800 airwomen, totalling 183 822 personnel. This increase corresponded with a similar expansion in facilities and hardware for the RAAF. To accommodate the growth, the 22 units that comprised the RAAF at the start of the war increased, by September 1945, to 480 individual units. Undoubtedly, this growth can be largely and directly attributed to the training commitment that Australia agreed to as their contribution to the Empire Air Training Scheme.13


The motivation for the grand Empire air armada grew from the fear of a greatly superior German air force. Commonwealth leaders had no doubt that German air power had been developed, in the five years preceding 1939, to a state where it could ‘be so overwhelmingly strong as to permit of a smashing attack, particularly upon Great Britain and France’. Moreover, it was clear the great naval supremacy that Britain had once enjoyed would be no solution to German air supremacy that could dominate air, sea and land battles. Menzies knew the consequences if Britain were conquered, forthrightly informing Australians:


Our interest in this war is founded on the cold fact that our existence is at stake. If the British can be defeated, we cannot hope to survive alone. We stand or fall together.14


The potential consequences of fighting a European war dominated by Germany in the air required an air power response. Menzies announced:


If Germany looks to the air to defeat us it is to the air that we must look for our defence, not at the expense of our other great services, but with a clear understanding of the fact that if German attacks are to be repelled and if the war is literally to be carried into the enemy's country we must develop in the shortest possible time the maximum of hitting capacity with our air arm.15


Menzies believed the building of an air force, to defend Britain and to take the fight to Germany, would not be detrimental to Australia’s defence. As previously noted, Australia could not stand alone against the dominant Axis powers if Britain fell and while Australia had a reasonable Army, Menzies noted:


nobody would imagine that we could set out to become a first-class military Power without seriously curtailing or even eliminating our other means of defence.


While noting that Australia’s defence from seaborne attack rested primarily with the British Navy, Menzies added:


In the air it is different. Air forces of a substantial kind in Australia have great mobility and striking power. They can be available at short notice at any threatened point. They would be a powerful deterrent against the descent to our waters of vulnerable transports filled with invading troops. They would be called upon to cope not with the modern bombers and fighters, which are now taking the air in Europe, but with aircraft of limited power and carrying capacity. It is in the air, therefore, that we have the opportunity and the need of making a great effort.16


Menzies reassured Australians that if Australia were threatened, the difficult part would not be the supply of aircraft, because these could quickly be purchased or manufactured locally, whereas skilled aviators could not be obtained as easily, noting:


It takes longer to train a skilled airman than it does to make the machine he is to fly and consequently the problem of decisive air strength in this war is more than a mechanical one-it is a human one.17


In summary, the Australian Government, Menzies stated, was participating in the Empire Air Training Scheme to ‘help to attain that air superiority which will render the heart of the Empire more secure from air attack’ and to create an Allied air force capable of taking the war to Germany, whilst deterring aggression against Australia, Singapore, and other vital assets abroad. The urgency of the situation was also stressed, as Germany’s superiority in the air could not be questioned and it was evident that the war would not be won until this disparity could be overtaken.18


Disparity in the Air


The notion that Germany was far better prepared than England for an air war had been a topic of contention for several years prior to the declaration of war in 1939. Warnings of Germany’s rearmament and intention to annex Austria were regular topics for the British Parliament, and the value of the policies of appeasement and disarmament were continually debated. In 1934, Britain’s Under-Secretary for Air, Sir Philip Sassoon, was aware of the need to maintain air parity with Germany but was concerned with the consequences if Britain ramped up aircraft production. He warned, ‘we do not want at this stage to put forward a programme of construction which might prove to be the starting gun for a race in air armaments’. Sassoon then qualified his statement, noting that ‘if other nations will not come down to our level, our security demands that we should build up to theirs’.19 Winston Churchill was far more direct, stating:


I dread the day when the means, (an air force) to threaten the heart of the British Empire will come into the hands of the present rulers of Germany. We still have time—perhaps 18 months—to take the necessary measures to achieve air parity.20


A few days later, Churchill was even more forthright, insisting:


We ought to end our efforts to force disarmament upon countries that feel themselves to be in great danger, and put ourselves in a reasonable position of security. That would be better for peace and for our own safety.21


Despite the warnings, when appeasement and disarmament failed, and war was declared, air parity with Germany had not been achieved. In fact, the Luftwaffe still significantly outnumbered the allies. Churchill summarised in parliament:


The German superiority on land and in the air continues at the present time. In the air, she possesses a numerical superiority of roughly two to one compared with that of the Allies.22


The consequences of the air disparity were dire, to the extent that it was acknowledged exceptional measures were required for Britain to survive the coming aerial onslaught and then be capable of taking the war in the air to Germany. Generally, it was agreed that Britain could survive in the air war through quality over quantity. As the Wodonga and Towong Sentinel editorialised:


Airpower rests on the quantity and the quality of the equipment and personnel of the air-forces engaged, on the training and the experience of the air crews and ground-crews and on the Air Staffs who steer their strategy. Of all these necessary attributes to the gaining of air-supremacy the greatest is probably that of the quality of the equipment and of the men.23


Through the newspapers, those in power sought to assure the public that the superiority Germany enjoyed in aircraft numbers would be mitigated by the quality of the British aircraft. Furthermore, the public was assured, with increased British production, the numbers Germany enjoyed in the air would soon be equalled or surpassed. Regrettably, it was conceded that taking the war to Germany would result in a high attrition rate among aircrew, and that Britain did not have the population base to satisfy the RAF recruitment requirements. However, it had already been ascertained that the Dominions were ideally positioned to assist in this regard.










Chapter 3


‘A GRANDIOSE PROJECT WITH A SOMEWHAT WELLSIAN FLAVOUR’


The Empire Air Training Scheme (EATS) was described as ‘probably the greatest single cooperative undertaking ever attempted by the British Commonwealth of Nations’.1 Churchill stated that it was a ‘master plan’ that sped the Allies on the ‘road to victory’.2 While, in a statement harking back to the science fiction of Thomas Gray’s Luna Habitabilis, Sir Kingsley Wood, then British Secretary for Air, described the Empire Air Training Scheme as ‘a grandiose project with a somewhat Wellsian flavour’.


The Plan, the Argus reported, ‘highly amused the Nazis’. The Germans were aware of the time needed to ‘build a huge air armada from the ground up with the war already started’ and goading Kingsley, their media reported that ‘it was typical British stupidity to imagine they would be allowed by the mighty Reich to survive so long’. A Lancaster, it was reported, could be mass-produced in 20 to 30 days, while its pilot would need 12 months training to be combat-ready.3


With mainland Europe completely in the hands of the Axis powers, and Britain in a perilous position, the Empire Air Training Scheme was viewed by some as a ‘courageous but foolhardy gesture’. However, the architects of the scheme ‘pinned their faith to the ability of Britain and the Empire to hold out’ and ‘Churchill promised blood, toil, sweat, and tears’ to ensure the necessary time to prepare.4


Stanley Bruce and Vincent Massey


Historians continue to contest if any person, or group, can be credited with devising the Empire AirTraining Scheme. John McCarthy contends that the concept was the natural evolution of Dominion participation in, and as part of, the greater Commonwealth forces participating in conflicts from Sudan in 1885 through to World War I.5 In contrast, FJ Hatch, Suzanne Evans, and Peter Henshaw all clearly credit Stanley Bruce and Vincent Massey.6 Many other authors avoid any controversy by starting their assessment of the scheme with the British approach to the Australian Government.7 Clearly, as McCarthy notes, ‘there was a long precedent for what became the Empire Air Training Scheme’. However, as noted earlier in Lord Londonderry’s comments, and The Times editorial, previous participation in Commonwealth defence did not necessarily relate to a future obligation.


Australian newspapers, throughout 1938, and in the lead up to the declaration of war in 1939, continued to debate if any obligation existed. As the Maryborough Chronicle, Wide Bay and Burnett Advertiser reported:


Many hold, in accordance with the Balfour Declaration, that common allegiance to the Crown by the Dominions would technically remain if Britain was at war, because the Crown is indivisible, and consequently the King declares war for the Empire as a whole. Furthermore, neutrality is possible only by secession from the Empire, but under the Statute of Westminster whether the Dominions participate in a war is for themselves to decide, as no part of the Empire can compel action upon another.8


The Canadian Prime Minister, Mackenzie King, left no doubt about his opinion, declaring his nation favoured an isolationist approach to any forthcoming European conflict. ‘Canada’, he stated, ‘cherished no design of aggression or expansion, or revenge, nor was she inclined to organise or join in crusades in other countries’.9 In Australia, the Labor Party opposed sending any personnel to participate in a European war, with Opposition leader John Curtin stating:


This means whatever else we may do as a dominion of the British Empire our men must not be sent out of Australia to participate in another war overseas. This is the positive and calmly considered view of the Australian Labor Party.


Government members replying to Curtin’s statement cried ‘Send that to Hitler’ and ‘Tell Hitler we won’t fight’, both heckles indicating the mixed position within the Australian Parliament on assisting Britain in the impending war.10 Clearly, the belief within the Dominions was that membership of the Commonwealth did not obligate them to assist Britain in their war efforts. Indeed, just 12 months before the declaration of war, there existed strong opinions, in both Australia and Canada, that if Dominion assistance was provided to Britain it should not include the provision of personnel. With war scarcely a few months away, these opinions prevailed. King, in Canada’s parliament, reiterated his position stating, ‘war, if it comes, will not involve great expeditionary forces, consequently, conscription will not be necessary, even if Canada participates’.11


Robert Menzies was sworn in as the new Australian Prime Minister on 26 August 1939, following the death of Joseph Lyons, and the 19- day caretaker prime ministership of Earle Page. Menzies immediately made it clear that Australia intended to support Britain ifwar did come, and the opposition, under Curtin, had started to soften its stance as well. They agreed to assist Britain, provided Australia’s participation was a matter of its choice and not on the assumption of obligation. Curtin declared that the government’s policy ‘squared with the view held by the Opposition’, stating:


Whatever is our obligation as a member of the British Commonwealth of Nations . . . it is one for us to measure; it is one which this Government and this Parliament must determine. Our membership of the British Commonwealth does not automatically involve Australia in war.12


Despite both Canada and Australia asserting that any involvement in a coming war would be a matter for each nation’s parliament to decide, a plan that relied on considerable contribution from both nations was soon to be developed to bolster the RAF. Significantly, the men who would conceive the plan were neither parliamentarians nor military men; they were the Canadian, and Australian, High Commissioners in London.


With war against Germany an ever-increasing reality, it is not surprising that early in 1939, the prospect of facing a far superior Luftwaffe occupied the minds of Stanley Bruce and Vincent Massey, the High Commissioners to the United Kingdom, from Australia and Canada respectively. Stanley Bruce, former Australian Prime Minister, now High Commissioner to the United Kingdom, still firmly believed in the idea of a combined Empire air force, which had first been proposed at the 1923 Imperial Conference.13 At that conference, the Prime Ministers of the various Dominions agreed on a number of ‘guiding principles’ for Imperial Defence. With air power developing rapidly, it was agreed:


That the air forces of the Empire should be developed upon lines which would facilitate cooperation. It is left to the Parliaments of the various countries to take the necessary action.14


The issue of Empire defence remained on the agenda at subsequent Imperial Conferences and Bruce continued to advocate for a greater dominion contribution to the combined defence of the Empire. He believed, ‘equality of status carried some responsibility to share the common burden of defence’ and considered air defence to be the area that offered the greatest opportunity for Dominion assistance.15 When the war began, Bruce, in his capacity as Australian High Commissioner in London, regularly met with Anthony Eden, Britain’s Secretary of State for Dominion Affairs. Eden noted that during a meeting with Bruce and the Canadian High Commissioner, Stanley Massey, the basic plan for the Empire Air Training Scheme was conceived. Eden wrote:


It was at one of these meetings that the Empire Air Training Scheme was first conceived. The high commissioners were appropriately conscious of the aptitude and qualifications of many of their young men for the war in the air. Some of them did not feel that the scope of the then existing projects was wide or imaginative enough. Out of discussion arose the suggestion of Mr Massey and Mr Bruce that an approach should be made for informal discussions with the Air Ministry. The latter were quick enough to see the splendid possibilities sketched out by these ideas. They responded at once, and so the trail was laid.16


The existing project referred to was Australia’s original offer of air force support for Britain. The Australian Commonwealth Ministry first offered to send an Australian expeditionary air force of six squadrons to aid Britain with the immediate threat. However, after being presented with the plan proposed by Bruce and Massey, Whitehall cabled Canberra, Wellington, and Ottawa to recommend concentrating on an Empire training plan which, they believed, ‘would produce 20,000 pilots and 30,000 air gunners and observers a year by 1943’.17


An ‘Enormously Effective Intervention’


Peter Henshaw contends, in ‘John Buchan and the British Commonwealth Air Training Plan: The Under-Rated Role of the “Man on the Spot”’, that Massey and Bruce not only conceived of EATS, they were instrumental in convincing the British government to support the plan to make Canada the central point for aircrew training for the Empire. This was, according to Henshaw, done ‘on their own initiative and without first consulting Ottawa or Canberra’. The British, he notes, had aspired for many years to develop a major air-training program in Canada, so they quickly adopted the plan.18 Each Dominion was contacted to gauge their willingness to participate and, with provisional acceptance of the plan from all concerned, a conference was organised to be held in Ottawa, Canada to negotiate the terms of the agreement. South Africa, demonstrating that Dominion participation was voluntary, elected not to participate in the scheme, but chose to develop their air force independently.


The Australian Government sent an Air Mission, headed by the Minister of Civil Aviation, James Valentine Fairbairn, to negotiate the terms of the plan with the missions from Great Britain, New Zealand, and Canada.19 Assisting Fairbairn in the negotiations were his private secretary, Richard Elford, and Cedric Kellway, a World War I veteran and long-time public servant in the Treasury Department. Kellway had been in New York as the Acting Trade Commissioner for Australia. Service knowledge on the RAAF was provided by Wing Commander George Jones.20


The original plan called for Canada to control the advanced training of British and all Dominion aircrew, with the graduating aircrew pooled for distribution to Dominion or RAF squadrons as required.21 The negotiations began in October 1939 and continued for almost two months. Australia, due to the vagaries of sea travel, arrived late on 2 November 1939. When they arrived, fierce negotiations were already underway between Britain and Canada, and relations between Australia and Canada quickly deteriorated after the Canadian mission refused to negotiate directly with the New Zealand and Australian missions.


The major wrangling points revolved around; the proportion of costs to be attributed to each nation; the maintenance of command, and national identity of graduates; and for Australia, the extent of training conducted locally.


Britain proposed that most of the crews should be trained in Canada after elementary preparation. Mr Fairbairn suggested instead that Australia should train seven-tenths of her crews entirely in Australia, thus saving £40,000,000 in dollars from the amount to be paid to Canada. Moreover, Canada had to build airfields, while Australia already had more than she could use at that time. The point was conceded.22


News reports appearing in several papers, dated around 20 November 1939, claimed that Australia had signed an agreement. The stories prompted Fairbairn to call Menzies and reassure him that he had not committed Australia to any plan without his permission.23 Nonetheless, four days later, on 27 November 1939, Fairbairn committed Australia to an agreement with Britain, and Menzies immediately announced the scheme to the Australian public through the radio and newspapers.24


We were committed, at that conference, to spend £54,890,000 in three years, to recruit 10,400 pilots and 15,600 wireless air gunners and observers, to build training schools, and to manufacture 233 Wirraways and many elementary trainers. It was a colossal commitment for a country which in 1918 trained just 158 pilots and which began this war with one flying training school and 16 instructors.


The Empire Air Training Scheme agreement, between Britain and Australia, was effective from 27 November 1939 until 31 March 1943.25


With an agreement signed between Britain and Australia, Fairbairn then left Canada before an accord on the four-nation agreement was reached. Henshaw contends that Australia’s early announcement of an agreement, and departure from the talks, came after they had lost faith with Canada, who, in their negotiations, had relegated the Antipodes to the position of ‘colonial adjuncts’. Canada, he asserts, was ‘too obsessed with escaping from colonial subservience to notice that the other dominions might have similar concerns’.26


McCarthy notes that trade negotiations may have delayed Canada signing the agreement. He argues Canada felt Britain expected full support for EATS without any financial support for the scheme being afforded through trade assistance. Wheat, McCarthy contends, was fundamental to an agreement. If the ‘anti-British elements in Quebec’ could not be placated, and their dissention spread to the middle prairies’ wheat belt, Canadian unity towards the war effort may have fractured. To counter this, McCarthy states, Britain was instructed to place a large order for Canadian wheat ‘without delay’ and ‘at the right bushell price’. McCarthy concludes that the order ‘partially satisfied’ Mackenzie King and paved the way for him to finally sign the agreement.27 In contrast, Brisbane’s Sunday Mail, noted that while the British cereal authority did offer Canada ‘90 cents for an option over 55,000,000 bushels’ of wheat, to be delivered before April, the Canadian Wheat Pool leaders elected to take their chances on the open market. They believed that there they could achieve prices greater than a dollar per bushel. Furthermore, the same newspaper article noted that any dissention between Quebec and the Canadian government had been put aside for the duration of the war, as the fear of Communist Russia outweighed any anti-British sentiment.28 This begs the question: What prompted Canada to sign the agreement after holding out for several weeks beyond the Australia and Britain accord? An answer may be provided in new archival documents that have come to light since McCarthy’s 1988 study of EATS, and Hatch’s 1983 analysis that McCarthy relied on for some evidence.


Australia’s agreement with Britain placed pressure on the Canadian negotiators who were keen to make their own announcement for the sake of appearing united, and to avoid embarrassment from seeming less supportive than the other Dominions. Canada had been holding out for their airmen to be posted to defined Royal Canadian Air Force squadrons rather than pooled for distribution to RAF squadrons. The British negotiator, Air Chief Marshal Sir Robert Brooke-Popham, RAF, was adamantly opposed to the idea; indeed, the agreement may have failed if not for the ‘highly irregular, somewhat surreptitious, but enormously effective intervention’ of John Buchan, the Governor- General of Canada. As Governor-General, Buchan had no real authority and no official role in the negotiations. However, his arbitration between the British air mission and the Canadian Prime Minister, William Lyon Mackenzie King, was aided by Buchan having direct access to the British Prime Minister, Neville Chamberlain, and King George VI. This permitted Buchan, in his role as Lord Tweedsmuir, to significantly pressure the negotiations. In Buchan’s opinion:


True unity would spring from collaboration between strong, self-confident states united by a shared outlook on the world and by a common approach to international problems.


He had already advised Mackenzie King that ‘the Canadian objectives were sound, reasonable and defensible despite British claims to the contrary’. Accordingly, with Australia having announced an agreement, and negotiation with Canada at an impasse, Henshaw contends that Buchan summoned Brooke-Popham to his residence at Rideau Hall, in Ottawa, late on 16 December 1939. The purpose being to chastise Brooke-Popham’s obstinance over the pooling of graduates. Brooke-Popham begrudgingly conceded the point, and consequently, the agreement was signed just after midnight, in the early hours of 17 December 1939. The haste was to allow Mackenzie King to announce the agreement during his regular weekly broadcast scheduled for the evening of 17 December.29 Besides the Prime Minister, those present for the signing included Lord Riverdale, chief British negotiator; Oscar Skelton, Canadian Under Secretary of State for External Affairs; Arnold Heeney, Principal Secretary to the Prime Minister; Walter Turnbull, Secretary to the Prime Minister; John Abraham of the British Air Ministry; and Air Chief Marshal Sir Robert Brooke-Popham, RAF.30 In Australia’s absence, the four-way agreement between Britain, Canada, Australia, and New Zealand was initialled on behalf of Australia by Lord Riverdale.31


This meant that Australia had two agreements in place for the training of aircrew. The first, between Australia and Britain, formalised the agreement for Australia to train seven-ninths of the allocated aircrew within Australia. The second agreement, the four-nation agreement, designated that the remaining two-ninths of aircrew would receive their initial training, and for pilots, their elementary flying training, in Australia; with the remainder of their aircrew training in Canada. The concession to train the majority of aircrew in Australia yielded a substantial saving in the cost Australia was expected to contribute to the scheme. The millions of pounds in savings was not the only perceived benefit of the change. Advanced air training in Australia would require advanced aircraft, airfields and infrastructure, as well as a sizeable increase in the air force personnel located in Australia. Most of the money that would have been paid to Canada to develop their air force, and train Australian airmen, could now be utilised to improve Australia’s air defence.


Announcing the Empire Air Training Scheme


In Fairbairn’s absence, the Acting Minister for Air, Harold Holt, advised the newspapers that the 26 000 airmen to be trained by the Commonwealth would comprise 10 400 pilots and 15 000 observers, wireless operators, and air gunners. As well, a further 20 000 airmen would be required for ground crew and administrative positions. Holt added that initially there would be ‘a considerable immediate increase in ground maintenance personnel’, followed by ‘a progressive increase in flying and ground instructional staff and appointments of equipment and medical officers’, and only then, ‘the recruiting of air crew trainees’.


Regarding the latter, Mr. Holt said it would be some time before training establishments were in full operation as there were 3600 civil air reserve candidates now being interviewed who would provide an adequate source of recruitment for some time.32


Fairbairn and his Detractors


Once back in Australia, Fairbairn outlined the agreement for the newspapers and highlighted several points. During the three years of the agreement, Australia would ‘train 30 000 air crew and at least 27 000 ground personnel’ and, once the men had completed advanced training, they would join the RAF as an Australian squadron. Seven out of every nine aircrew would be fully trained in Australia and the remaining two-ninths would receive their advanced training in Canada. The intention was to commission as pilot officers at least 50 per cent of all graduating pilots and observers, with the remainder holding the rank of sergeant. Ten per cent of the air gunners would be commissioned, with the rest being leading aircraftsmen after graduation. Australia’s expenditure to train all their aircrew in Canada, as per the original proposal, was estimated at £51 300 000. The plan to train the majority in Australia reduced this to £11 400 000 and allowed the difference of £40 000 000 to be used in Australia to develop the nation’s own air power while, at the same time, still be able to meet the promised commitment to the Empire Air Training Scheme. Fairbairn noted:


Training in Australia is much cheaper than training in Canada because of climatic conditions and the number of civil aerodromes developed before the war.33


The newspapers enthusiastically reported the changes and noted the promise of the British ‘gift’, which likely helped seal the Australia- Britain deal.


By the agreement, seven-ninths of the flying personnel will be trained to war standard in Australia and two-ninths in Canada. This means that 20,000 men will be trained in Australia and 6,000 in Canada. Reports declare that the scheme envisages a vigorous policy in all participating countries for the training of ground personnel, and that the British Government has agreed to send a large staff of expert instructors in all branches of military aviation to Australia to assist in the training plan. In addition, she will send as a gift, a large number of modern machines.34


Menzies assured the nation that with the promised British aircraft, and through training a large portion of the Australian airmen at home:


Nobody need fear the problem of our own security will ever be neglected. The Empire air training scheme will actually increase the measure of Australia's security; because it would substantially increase the number of aircraft here.35


However, the acquisition of sufficient and suitable aircraft, engines, and spares would prove to be more complex than articulated and would threaten Australia’s capacity to meet their quota of aircrew for the Empire Air Training Scheme.36


To kick start the scheme, a large number of civil aircraft and aero-training schools around mainland Australia were co-opted into RAAF service. The cadet pupils learning to fly with the aero-clubs and commercial schools became the first point for aircrew recruitment. If they elected to join the RAAF, the pilots training at these clubs were offered a commission on probation during the period of their course. However, the courses offered were limited to candidates who had a minimum of 200 hours solo flying experience and were suitable for employment in the RAAF. All aircrew candidates had to have reached 18 years of age and not yet have reached, for pilots, their twenty-eighth birthday. For air observers and wireless air gunners, the upper age limit was extended to their thirty-second birthday.37 The pilot trainees received their flying instruction from civilian pilots, however, they were still subject to RAAF discipline. Each civilian centre engaged as a training facility had an RAAF command structure established, comprising a commanding officer, chief flying instructor, ground training instructor, and instructors specialising in navigation, engine maintenance, and armaments.


The lucky cadets at Parafield in South Australia, and at Archerfield in Queensland had military huts already in place for their accommodation. The cadets at all other centres relied on billeting in nearby homes or lived in tents at the airfield until accommodation could be built. Once the first intake had half completed their course, a second intake was scheduled to begin. In this way, each training facility could provide a graduating class ready for the next level of instruction every four weeks.38 The first cadets were paid ‘10/- a day plus lodging, fuel, and light’. Their eight weeks of elementary flying training comprised all the essential ground subjects and 50 hours flying time, which included instrument and cross-country flying. The initial intakes were enlisted in the RAAF rather than EATS and, after graduation and successfully completing the advanced flying course, they were all commissioned.39


The RAF Arrives


With the agreement for EATS signed barely a month, Fairbairn came under attack for deciding to appoint Air Chief-Marshal Sir Charles Burnett, an Englishman, to head the RAAF and oversee the scheme’s implementation. Though Burnett was eminently qualified, Curtin immediately objected, stating Fairbairn and the Government were demonstrating a ‘disregard for the national identity of the Australian Air Force’, and he insisted that Australia had all the experience required for the position within their own ranks. Australia’s Air Vice-Marshal Stanley James Goble had announced he was resigning for personal reasons, leaving Curtin believing that he had been pushed out to make way for Burnett. Goble, Curtin stated:


Knows as much about Royal Air Force organisation and its technical problems as any Englishman, and that includes Air Chief-Marshal Sir Charles Burnett.40


John McCarthy notes, in his biography of Goble, that in effect, Goble had been found wanting as the Acting Chief of the Air Staff and had not supported an Empire air scheme. Oddly, to appease the situation the Government appointed Goble as the Australian liaison officer to EATS in Canada, where he served until 1945.41


Curtin was not alone in criticising the appointment of Burnett. Sir Earle Page, leader of the Country Party, also attacked the decision. Page was no friend of Menzies and, on the death of Prime Minister Joseph Lyons, he had attempted to thwart Menzies ascension to Prime Minister. Page used parliament as a forum to accuse Menzies for, among other things, not having the courage to serve during World War I, stating:

OEBPS/Images/cpy.jpg
g

NATIONAL
LIBRARY

A catalogue record for this
book is available from the
National Library of Australia





OEBPS/Images/title.jpg
The Empire Air Training Scheme as reported
in the Australian Press 1939-1945

‘e bigskypublshing com.au

TONY JAMES BRADY

B Soc Se, Grad Dip £d (Secondary), PhD, MPHA(QId)






OEBPS/Images/awd.jpg





OEBPS/Images/p0003.jpg





OEBPS/Images/cover.jpg
The Empire Air Training
Scheme as reported
in the Australian Press %
1939-1945






OEBPS/Images/halftitle.jpg
The Empire Air Training Scheme as reported
in the Australian Press 1939-1945

.
M
H
N





